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Preface 

The year 2006 was a busy year for the Flinders University Program in Maritime Archaeology 
Program. Several field projects were conducted by staff and postgraduate students both in 
Australia and abroad. The Maritime Archaeology Monograph Series publication "A Year in 
Review: 2006 Program in Maritime Archaeology" is a sampling of this field research. The 
projects covered include research conducted on historic shipwreck shelter huts, early colonial 
ship construction sites, whaling sites, geophysical investigations, and two general survey reports. 
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Introduction 
Jennifer McKinnon and Jason Raupp 

  
 

The year 2006 was busy for the Flinders University Department of Archaeology�s Postgraduate 
Program in Maritime Archaeology Program. It began with the 2006 Maritime Archaeology Field 
School at Mt. Dutton Bay and the introduction of new academic staff to the ever-growing 
program. With new staff came new opportunities for fieldwork, and 2006 was a banner year for 
just that. This latest publication in the Maritime Archaeology Monographs Series (MAMS), A 
Year in Review: 2006 Program in Maritime Archaeology, is a small sampling of the field work 
both staff and students have conducted over the past year. Although all of the fieldwork 
conducted in 2006 could not be reported in this monograph, some of the key projects were 
chosen for publication.   

The Program in Maritime Archaeology provides many opportunities for students to gain valuable 
experience working in the field. First and foremost is the annual Maritime Archaeology Field 
School, which was held in February. The 2006 field school was held at Mt. Dutton Bay on South 
Australia�s Eyre Peninsula. During the field school students were encouraged to use the sites 
they investigated and the data they collected for their Masters Theses research. This year three 
students conducted research on their theses projects including investigations of the historic 
oyster industry in South Australia, maritime infrastructure in South Australia and Australian ship 
construction. Although these research projects were not included in this publication, future 
MAMS publications will be devoted to them. 

Academic staff research is another valuable opportunity for students and staff to conduct 
fieldwork. In April 2006 a team of researchers and students led by Lecturer Jennifer McKinnon 
travelled to Kangaroo Island (South Australia) to conduct research on 20th century shipwreck 
shelter huts which were once located on the western end of the island. These shelter huts were 
erected for a short period of time to aid shipwrecked sailors with food, water, clothing and 
shelter in an effort to prevent loss of life. While expectations were low for finding these 
ephemeral shelter huts, the research hoped to establish these sites as viable maritime 
archaeological sites and begin to place them within a broader context of understanding 20th 
century shipping in South Australia. Chapter 2 reports on the results of archaeological and 
geophysical investigations at these sites.  

While some students take the opportunity to utilize field school as a means for collecting thesis 
data, others are more adventurous and undertake field projects on their own. Chapter 3 outlines 
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Masters student Emily Jateff�s ambitious fieldwork conducted in North Carolina (USA). In April 
and October 2006 Jateff organized and conducted a field research project at Cape Lookout 
National Seashore on Shackleford Banks in an attempt to locate shore-based whaling sites 
associated with the late 19th century settlement of Diamond City. This project combined the 
efforts of a number of agencies including the National Park Service Southeast Archaeological 
Centre, Cape Lookout National Seashore, the Program in Maritime Studies at East Carolina 
University and the North Carolina Maritime Museum. Although no definitive remains of whaling 
activities were located, Jateff�s research illustrated the fact that changes in the environment and 
coastal erosion significantly affect archaeological sites and therefore should be monitored 
closely.   

The program also supported the field research of two PhD students in 2006. PhD candidate 
Claire Dappert conducted archaeological research at Kangaroo Island�s American River and 
reports on her findings in Chapter 4. Much like the ephemeral nature of the archaeological sites 
reported in Chapters 1 and 2, Dappert examines evidence of South Australia�s earliest known 
non-Indigenous shipbuilding at American River. In addition to attempting to locate the 
construction site of Independence, her research investigated the factors which influenced the 
shipbuilders� decision to construct the vessel where they did and what types of timbers would 
have been available to them.   

Chapters 5 and 6 represent yet another example of the growing opportunities for students to gain 
field experience. In 2006 the program added a new topic called Practicum in Maritime 
Archaeology to its course offerings. This topic provides students with opportunities to participate 
in the workplace environment with government agencies, consultancy firms, non-profit groups, 
or other universities. A practicum provides students with the ability to take part in joint projects 
and receive personal guidance and instruction with immediate feedback on their performance. It 
also allows students to put their theoretical learning into practice, develop a sense of the 
workplace, enhance their employment prospects through additional training, build networks of 
contacts and develop a range of personal and professional skills.  

Over the years the program has developed a strong professional relationship with the Maritime 
Heritage Unit (MHU) of Heritage Victoria. As a result of this relationship, Flinders University 
and the MHU have run many joint research projects and field schools in both Victoria and South 
Australia. Chapter 5 reports on the results of one of two practicums conducted with the MHU in 
2006. In October Flinders students and staff travelled to the southeast Gippsland region of 
Victoria to assist the MHU with site inspections of historic shipwrecks and terrestrial sites with 
maritime associations. The investigations of three shipwrecks (SS Blackbird, PS Clonmel and PS 
Thistle), and a riverine landing site at Stockyard Creek were conducted and students produced a 
preliminary field report for submission to Heritage Victoria. The Gippsland project is an 
example of the symbiotic relationships on which these practicums are constructed. 

Chapter 6 reports on the second practicum conducted with the MHU at Port Phillip Bay in 
Victoria. As the authors point out, this practicum was �established with the dual purpose of 
assisting Heritage Victoria with its legislated responsibility of inspecting and managing 
shipwrecks of heritage significance, as well as providing maritime archaeology students with 
field experience�. The project crew consisted of  students and staff from Flinders University, 
MHU archaeologists, Australian National Maritime Museum archaeologists and members of the 
Maritime Archaeological Association of Victoria. In all, seven historic shipwrecks were 
investigated and three more were attempted, ship lines of the lifeboat Queenscliffe were lifted 
and recorded, and an archaeological assessment of the 19th century mineral springs and spa at 
Clifton Springs was conducted.  
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The last project to be reported in this MAMS publication presents the results of research 
conducted by program staff members Jason Raupp (Technical Officer), Ian Moffat (Research 
Fellow) and Masters student David VanZandt. Flinders University�s Department of Archaeology 
has had a longstanding interest in incorporating geophysics into the archaeological investigation 
of Indigenous, historic and maritime sites. Chapter 7 reports on one project that combined 
historical, archaeological and geophysical research to look  for the remains of several early ships 
known to have gone ashore near Port Elliot on the southern Fleurieu Peninsula. These 
investigations proved fruitful in demonstrating that a combination of historical research and a bi-
partite geophysical methodology can substantially reduce the unnecessary use of time, funding 
and effort in the search for shipwrecks located in beach environments. 

A Year in Review: 2006 Program in Maritime Archaeology is a compilation of reports on the 
fieldwork conducted by students and staff in the Flinders University Program in Maritime 
Archaeology. By no means does it represent all of the fieldwork conducted in 2006; instead it is 
a sampling of the various types of projects supported and operated by the program. The year 
2007 is shaping up to be another year of great research projects and it is hoped that the efforts of 
students and staff can be reported on in another Maritime Archaeology Monograph series 
publication. Enjoy the year in review.  
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A Needle in a Haystack: Archaeological 
and Geophysical Investigations of 
Historic Shipwreck Shelter Huts on 
Kangaroo Island 

Jennifer McKinnon, Ian Moffat and Andrea Smith 

The Kangaroo Island Shipwreck Shelter Hut Survey Project began as part of a Flinders Faculty 
Research Maintenance Grant in 2006 and has since evolved into a cross-continental study of 
lifesaving stations, houses of refuge and shipwreck shelter huts in both Australia and the United 
States of America. The field work portion of this project was designed to locate and document 
the archaeological remains of two early shipwreck shelter huts located at Cape du Couedic and 
West Bay on Kangaroo Island. It was hoped that a pre-disturbance survey of these 20th century 
huts would provide a better understanding of the severities of life and shipping along the 
isolated, rocky coastline of Kangaroo Island, particularly the local need for lookouts and 
lifesaving stations. On a broader scale it was also hoped that this research would add to our 
general understanding of early shipping and ship losses in this area of South Australia.   

The project crew included Jennifer McKinnon (principal investigator), Jason Raupp, Claire 
Dappert, Ian Moffat, and Andrea Smith and lasted six full days. On 7 April 2006 the crew 
arrived at Kangaroo Island and set up headquarters at the Flinders-Baudin Research Centre at 
Rocky River (Flinders Chase National Park). The project goals were to assess the natural and 
cultural features of the survey areas and possibly identify the locations of the shelter huts. Two 
and one half days were spent conducting pedestrian surveys, one day conducting magnetometer 
surveys, and the remainder of the time researching in the local museums. The following chapter 
is a description of this work and the results of the pedestrian and magnetometer surveys.   

Brief History of Kangaroo Island 
Kangaroo Island, Australia�s second largest island, is located in the southeast of South Australia 
at the southern tip of the Fleurieu Peninsula (Figure 1). It is separated from the mainland by 
Backstairs Passage, a historic shipping channel renowned for its strong currents, waves, and 
weather. The island itself is approximately 150 km long and 55 km wide and as of 2005, the total 
population is 4,384 persons. Access to the island is available only by ai or sea and there is a ferry 
that offers service to and from the mainland via Cape Jervis and Penneshaw. 
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Figure 1.  Map of Kangaroo Island (J. McKinnon 2006) 

Despite the absence of an Indigenous population upon European arrival there is material 
evidence that suggests the island was inhabited by Indigenous peoples. Kangaroo Island became 
known to Europeans in March of 1802 when Matthew Flinders anchored in Nepean Bay 
(Ruediger, 1980:10). His first impressions of the island were recorded in his diary:  

There was little doubt, that this extensive piece of land was separated from the 
continent; for the extraordinary tameness of the kangaroos and the presence of seals 
upon the shore, concurred with the absence of all traces of man to show that it was 
not inhabited. (Cumpston, 1986:9)  

At the same time Nicolas Baudin, a Frenchman, was exploring the waters of South Australia 
when he happened upon Flinders� expedition. Flinders described Kangaroo Island to Baudin as a 
place that offered fresh meat and water; however, Baudin did not act on his advice until January 
1803 when he returned to Kangaroo Island and charted the southern and western portions of the 
island unexplored by Flinders (Fornasiero et al., 2004:230). Some of the places he charted have 
retained their French names including Cape Borda, Cape du Couedic, Cape Gantheaume and 
D�Estrees Bay. 

From 1803 to 1830 sealing and whaling operations brought crews of men to Kangaroo Island for 
seasonal work. These men spent their time procuring oil, meat and kangaroo skins for the 
international market. A few of the men decided to stay and set up homesteads in the 1820s. It 
was then that a substantial settlement developed near Three Wells River including 30 men with 
Indigenous wives and children (Taylor, 2002:25). These Indigenous women utilized their 
adaptive hunting and gathering skills to help their families survive the difficult environment on 
Kangaroo Island (Clarke, 1966:51-81).   

Sealing, whaling and hunting continued for some time until the arrival of the first planned South 
Australian settlement at Nepean Bay. This settlement began when the South Australia Company 
was granted rights to establish a town site and arrived on 27 August 1836 at Kingscote. Initially 
it was assumed that this area would be satisfactory, however the lack of local water forced plans 
to settle near present-day Adelaide almost immediately (Parsons, 1986:17). Within months most 
of the population had relocated and just a few settlers remained.  From the late 1830s to the end 
of the 19th century Kangaroo Island remained stagnant. It was not until 1890 when Kangaroo 
Island�s population, trade and agriculture picked up again. From the early 1900s a considerable 
amount of development took place and more families moved to Kangaroo Island to settle and 
make a living. Today there are four main centres of population: Kingscote, Penneshaw, 
American River and Parndana. 
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Previous Archaeological Investigations of Kangaroo Island 
Until recently, there have only been a small number of archaeological investigations conducted 
on the island mostly related to Indigenous sites. In 1977 the Society for Underwater Historical 
Research conducted an archaeological survey on the wreck of Loch Vennachar (Society for 
Underwater Historical Research, 1977; Jeffery 1980). Ronald Lampart (1981) conducted a 
detailed survey of the island�s Indigenous populations as a part of his PhD research. In 1991, 
Robert McKinnon conducted a survey of the shipwrecks that have occurred along Kangaroo 
Island�s coastline, highlighting their cultural heritage significance. Later the Department of 
Environment and Planning, South Australia implemented an interpretive Maritime Heritage Trail 
on the island which focused on identifying and interpreting the location of these wrecks 
(Department of Environment and Planning, 1991). Also in 1991, Parry Kostoglou and Justin 
McCarthy conducted an archaeological survey of whaling and sealing sites in South Australia, 
five of which are located on Kangaroo Island. These settlements were ephemeral in nature and 
left little material culture behind. An archaeological survey has been conducted on Kangaroo 
Island�s lighthouses as a Masters thesis (Lyons, 2005) and another Masters thesis was completed 
on several of the historic jetties (Khan, 2006). In 2006, Andrea Smith, co-author of this paper, 
conducted a maritime cultural landscape study of Kingscote and West Bay as a part of her 
Honours thesis research. Considering how �untouched� and �underdeveloped� the island actually 
is, there is great potential for archaeological investigations, particularly the maritime heritage.  

Shipwreck Helter Huts on Kangaroo Island 
During the 19th century maritime trade and traffic was expanding rapidly along South Australia�s 
coastline. These increases in shipping in combination with the rugged and relatively sparsely 
populated coastline lead to an increase in shipwrecks, cargo loss, and loss of life. As a result, 
lifesaving stations and shipwreck shelter huts were erected along the coast and on Kangaroo 
Island in an effort to decrease the effects of these maritime disasters, aid in the recovery of 
shipwreck survivors and cargo and prevent further deaths from occurring once individuals made 
it ashore.  

Records indicate that as early as 1899 shipwreck shelter huts were erected on the western end of 
Kangaroo Island (Figure 2). These stations were simply huts built of corrugated metal, wood and 
stone and no one was stationed at them. They contained enough supplies to sustain shipwreck 
survivors until further help arrived or until such time as they were well enough to walk for help. 
Items such as bread, meat, water, blankets, and rockets were stored inside. A notice board was 
posted outside declaring that the supplies were only to be used by shipwreck survivors, 
indicating the location of the nearest settlement, and providing instructions for opening the stores 
and for firing rockets. It is uncertain if any shipwrecked people ever used these shelter huts; 
however, they remain an interesting and integral part of the maritime history of South Australia 
and Kangaroo Island.  

Shipwreck shelter huts would have been quite unassuming but easily identified from the water as 
a structure. A review of the historic photographs of the West Bay hut indicates that it was 
probably constructed of a wood frame with corrugated metal sheeting for walls and a flat roof 
(perhaps metal as well). Another historic photograph of a different shelter hut indicates the roofs 
of huts could also be pitched (Figure 3). The hut at West Bay most likely only had one entry, a 
door which faced south away from the prevailing winds.  The structure is approximately 2 m 
wide by 2-2.5 m high (using individuals in the photograph for scale). The hut may have been 
painted white or light-coloured, probably so it would stand out among the bush. 



2. A NEEDLE IN A HAYSTACK 7 

 

 

Figure 2. West Bay shelter hut, 1906 (Courtesy of State Library of South Australia PGR 
280/1/4/129) 

 

Figure 3. Shipwreck shelter hut door, location and date unknown (Courtesy of Flinders Chase 
National Park Visitor Centre, Photograph: J. McKinnon) 

In yet another historic photograph of a different hut (location unknown), the shelter is shown 
supported by carefully stacked rocks on each corner of the foundation and a path is cleared to the 
door (Figure 4). Variations such as this suggest that the construction of these huts was carried out 
in a pragmatic fashion governed by available materials and the specific needs of the particular 
environments.  

Also visible in this photograph is a signpost with a message to shipwrecked sailors and others. 
One original signpost notice has survived and is on display in the visitor centre of the Flinders 
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Chase National Park. The notice is written in three languages (English, German and French) and 
provides instructions for those who made it ashore to the hut. Included in the instructions are a 
declaration that the supplies were only to be used by shipwreck survivors, directions and distance 
to the nearest settlement and instructions for opening the stores and firing rockets. 

 

Figure 4. Shipwreck shelter hut with signpost, location and date unknown (Courtesy Hope 
Cottage National Trust Museum, Photograph: J. McKinnon 2006) 

Site Histories 

West Bay 

West Bay is situated within Flinders Chase National Park on the western coastline of Kangaroo 
Island. Flinders Chase is approx 32,600 hectares and is comprised of three separate parks 
including Rocky River in the southwest corner of the island, Cape Borda in the northwest and the 
Gosse Lands in the northeast. These three park sections surround the Ravine des Casoars 
Wilderness Protection Area which forms the northern boundary of the West Bay region and 
totals 41,320 hectares. Together, Flinders Chase and Ravine des Casoars make up 10 percent of 
Kangaroo Island. 

The European history of West Bay is limited as no European settlers inhabited this area and the 
nearest settlement was at Rocky River approximately 22 km east. In fact, according to the 
Department for Administrative and Information Services Lands Titles Office, West Bay has 
never been surveyed or subdivided into pastoral leases but has always been Crown land. When 
Cape Borda Lighthouse in the north was built in 1858 (Barker and McCaskill, 1999:38) the 
entire western shoreline including West Bay was named as a part of the Lighthouse Reserve 
(South Australian Government Gazette, 19 July 1900 and 29 April 1909) which was then 
transferred to Flinders Chase Park under the Fauna and Flora Reserve Act in 1919 (South 
Australian Government Gazette, 20 September 1923). Thus West Bay has changed very little 
since Kangaroo Island was settled. In recent years the park has added a remote campground, 
toilet block, rainwater tank, car park, picnic tables and boardwalk for recreation purposes; 
however, the bay itself and the terrain have retained their natural landscape. 

Historical photographs and records indicate that a small shipwreck shelter hut was constructed at 
West Bay (Figure 5). It is not known conclusively when the shelter hut was constructed, 
although it does appear on a 1913 Admiralty Chart as a �Relief Station for Shipwreck Mariners�. 
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According to a display board at the Hope Cottage National Trust Museum in Kingscote (Author 
unknown) the shelter hut was erected in 1899 and dismantled in 1934. There is no historical 
evidence to suggest that any shipwrecked sailors found the West Bay hut and used the supplies, 
but there are stories of locals who raided the supplies (Chapman, 1972:2).   

 

Figure 5. Detail of 1913 Admiralty Chart showing �Relief Station for Shipwrecked 
Mariners� at West Bay, Kangaroo Island by Hutchinson, J. and Howard, F. 
(Courtesy of the State Library of South Australia) 

The closest this hut may have come to service occurred in 1905 with the wrecking of Loch 
Vennachar. Loch Vennachar was a three-masted fully-rigged iron ship built in Glasgow in 1875 
(Chapman, 1972:44). When the ship failed to arrive at port on 6 September suspicions of its 
sinking were raised. Conclusive evidence of the disaster came when a reel of blue printing paper 
identified as being on the ship�s bills of lading was found floating in the Gulf of St. Vincent. 
Wreckage washed up all along the western and southern shores of Kangaroo Island for months 
after the wrecking. Search parties were launched including one aboard the Marine Board ship 
Governor Musgrave (Chapman, 1972:46).  

It was not until Trooper R.C. Thorpe and Mr. Charles May, who were inspecting shelter huts on 
the southern coast of Kangaroo Island and found huge quantities of wreckage in West Bay, that 
the shipwreck site could be narrowed down to a specific location. On 26 November 1905 Thorpe 
and May found a badly decomposed body and a beach strewn with wreckage including spars, 
ship buckets with the name on it, the stern section of a boat, brass fittings, reels and bales of 
paper, and about 40 hogsheads and half hogsheads of whiskey (Chapman, 1972:48; Loney, 
1993:33). Some of the casks of whiskey had been washed over a quarter of a mile up the West 
Bay Creek. The body was buried in the dunes and a cross was erected from the wreckage. This 
cross was later removed by vandals but a replacement stands near the spot of the original 
gravesite today. The body and the wreckage pointed to the fact that the shipwreck must be 
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somewhere nearby. As mentioned previously, the location of Loch Vennachar was discovered at 
West Bay in 1977 by the Society for Underwater Historical Research [SUHR]. SUHR divers 
recovered the anchor of the ship which now sits in the car park at West Bay.  

Trooper Thorpe was quickly named Keeper of Wrecks and ordered by his superiors to remain in 
the area and conduct a salvage of the ship�s cargo that washed ashore at West Bay (Loney, 
1993:32). Thorpe and May made camp up the creek and set out to collect the salvageable cargo. 
While they waited for the government vessel to return to West Bay and pick up the casks of 
whiskey, Thorpe wrote a letter to a friend describing the remoteness of the area and complaining 
about how unpleasant it was to be forced to stay there for an extended period of time. A portion 
of the letter read,  

Doubtless you have seen in the papers the result of my visit of inspection to the 
Shipwreck Shelter Hut at this bay, and the sad discovery we made � I had a man 
named May with me for company, as it is both a rough, scrubby and dangerous place 
to come to alone. We first visited the Cape du Couedic shelter shed two days 
previous to this one and found all the stores, etc. intact.  (Loney, 1993)  

The secretary of the Marine Board received a telegram from Thorpe on 1 December asking when 
the whiskey would be taken away as it would require two days notice to have the horse bring the 
casks closer to the waters edge. On 6 December Governor Musgrave departed Port Adelaide for 
West Bay to pick up the whiskey and other salvageable goods. The ship arrived and they loaded 
the casks and shipped them from West Bay (Chapman, 1972:48).  

Cape du Couedic 

Cape du Couedic is also located in Flinders Chase National Park at the very south-western tip of 
the park and island. It is an area of historical, cultural and biological significance for a number of 
reasons. Located on the Cape are an historic lighthouse and associated buildings, the remains of 
a jetty and flying fox, Admiral�s Arch (a famous geological site attracting thousands of visitors), 
a colony of New Zealand Fur Seals and the nearby Remarkable Rocks (another famous 
geological site).   

Cape du Couedic�s European history involves its designation as one of the early tourist 
destinations on Kangaroo Island including stops at Remarkable Rocks and Admiral�s Arch and 
the construction of the lighthouse. The circular, masonry lighthouse at Cape du Couedic was 
built between 1906 and 1909 from locally quarried stone, as were the lighthouse keepers� 
cottages (Department for Environment, Heritage and Aboriginal Affairs, 1999:39). The location 
for this lighthouse was chosen because of dangerous ship traps nearby including Lipson Reef 
which is partially submerged just off the Cape and the Casuarinas (The Brothers), two islands 
just south of the Cape. Before its construction several vessels including Mars, Emily Smith, Loch 
Sloy, Loch Vennachar, and Montebello had wrecked in the vicinity (Chapman, 1972).  

Less than a kilometre away at Weirs Cove are the remains of a jetty and the remnants of a flying 
fox and storehouse where supplies were loaded and unloaded for the lighthouse. The engineering 
achievements of the incredibly steep flying fox truly represent the remote and harsh nature of the 
southwest coastline of Kangaroo Island and the lengths to which the inhabitants had to go to in 
order to supply the lighthouse. Supplies for the lighthouse arrived every three months to this 
location and were kept in the storehouses adjacent to the jetty. The flying fox was also used to 
transport the keepers and their families on and off the Cape (Department for Environment, 
Heritage and Aboriginal Affairs, 1999:39). Mail was delivered by horseback fortnightly to 
Rocky River about 15 kilometres away, and the first vehicle to visit the lighthouse didn�t arrive 
until 1940. The lighthouse was supplied with a full set of rocket apparatus and rope ladders for 
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scaling the cliffs in the event that a ship should wreck. In the late 1950s the Cape du Couedic 
lighthouse was automated. (Department for Environment, Heritage and Aboriginal Affairs, 
1999:39). The lighthouse cottages are now used for visitor accommodation.  

We know from Trooper Thorpe�s letter that a shipwreck shelter hut was located at Cape du 
Couedic, but no definitive evidence, such as the historical photographs for West Bay, exists. 
However, when all of the known historic photographs are considered three different shelter huts 
appear to be represented. One particular photograph may have been taken of a hut located at 
Cape du Couedic based on the terrain and the object in the background which possibly could be 
the lighthouse (refer to Figure 4). The shipwreck shelter hut at Cape du Couedic was likely 
established several years prior to the construction of the lighthouse around the time of the West 
Bay hut. This photograph of the shelter hut may have been taken during the lighthouse 
construction process. It is likely that once the lighthouse was constructed, the shelter hut was 
either dismantled and used for materials or discarded or used as a storage shed or outbuilding of 
the complex. There would have been little need for a shelter hut once the keeper�s cottages were 
established and could provide housing for shipwrecked sailors. This possible sequence of events 
raises an interesting idea that the shipwreck shelter hut might have been a precursor to the 
lighthouse operations.  

Survey Project 
The project goals were to assess the natural and cultural features of the areas and possibly 
identify the locations of the shelter huts (although the probability was acknowledged as low due 
to the ephemeral nature of the buildings). The following is a description of this work and the 
results of the survey.  

West Bay Survey 

Landscape 

The West Bay environment and vegetation fall within the Gantheaume Environmental 
Association (Laut et al., 1977). The survey area principally consists of Holocene sand thought to 
be sourced from the adjacent river and then reworked and mounded against a cliff of lithified 
Pleistocene Aeolian limestone surrounding the survey area.  

The survey of West Bay posed more challenges than expected as it is composed of quite steep 
sand dunes and dense vegetation. The survey began by using the historic photographs and 
trekking across the sand dunes, lining up the prominent features of the bay with those in the 
photographs. Because the topography of West Bay is quite dramatic, the crew was unable to 
maintain systematic survey lines; rather the photographs were used as a guide. It was clear from 
the photographs that the shelter hut was located in the central area of the bay in the higher set of 
dunes. These dunes were less susceptible to erosion as was evident by the dense vegetation, and 
also provided a better view of the surrounding waters due to the elevation. On either side of the 
bay there are steep rocky cliffs which would be difficult to climb making the dunes a more 
appealing location for tired, wounded shipwrecked sailors. Just to the south of the central dune 
area is a seasonal creek. During heavy storms the creek flows but for the majority of the year it is 
dry. Upon speaking with a park ranger, a fresh water spring was located on the south edge of the 
beach where the rock cliffs meet the sand.  

Selection of survey area 

After much climbing and debate a flat area of sand dune near the creek bed was identified as an 
area for further investigation. There were no signs of material evidence at this location or any 
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other location during the survey, but the crew operated on the assumption that lining up the 
prominent features in the historic photographs would put the survey area in the correct location. 
The area chosen provides a flat platform for a structure, a decent view of the water and vice 
versa, a nearby creek and is sheltered from winds by larger dunes to the north and east. After 
conducting a refined pedestrian survey of the area, a small area on the dune (approximately 60 m 
x 80 m in size) was chosen to conduct a magnetometer survey.  

Geophysical survey 

A magnetometer was selected as the most appropriate tool for the intended target with reference 
to the American Society of Testing and Materials standard D6329-99 (American Society of 
Testing and Materials, 1999:2). The use of magnetometers to detect direct ferrous evidence of 
cultural material (e.g. Black and Johnston, 1962), evidence of burning (Abbot and Frederick, 
1990; Frederick and Abbot 1992), or disturbance in soil stratigraphy (Field et al., 2001; Nobes 
2006) has a long and established history.  

Magnetometer data was collected using a Geometrics G-856 proton precession magnetometer 
collecting data at five second intervals. During data acquisition the sensor was kept at a constant 
height of 2 m and orientated towards north at all times. Positioning data was collected with a 
Garmin 12XL Global Positioning System as a track point at five second intervals.   

The survey tracks were placed opportunistically based on breaks in the vegetation and the 
elevation of the sand dune rather than on a set survey pattern. Survey of this type, although 
spatially less accurate than gridding (estimated to be +/- 5 m bested on the use of a navigational 
GPS), allows the rapid collection of reconnaissance data which permits the operator to determine 
whether the presence of anomalies calls for more detailed and spatially accurate survey (Moffat 
and Wallis, 2005).  

A total of 206 data points were collected with data quality assessed as poor (Figure 6). The data 
shows a skewed distribution of data points suggesting significant interference from localized 
variations in the earth�s magnetic field, most likely a result of magnetic storms. As a second 
magnetometer was not used during this survey as a base station, a diurnal correction was unable 
to be performed (Scollar, 1963). As a result, definitive analysis of the data is problematic; 
however, no evidence for discrete anomalies of a type and magnitude considered consistent with 
the generally ephemeral nature of the building were discovered. This suggests that, should the 
analysis of the likely position of the shelter hut be correct (see above for discussion), no ferrous 
material culture or other occupational evidence detectable by a magnetometer remains on the 
site. This is not a surprise as records at the Hope Cottage National Trust Museum indicate that 
the structure was sold and dismantled in 1934, just 45 years after it was built. 

Cape du Couedic Survey 

Landscape 

Cape du Couedic also falls under the Gantheaume Environmental Association (Laut et al., 1977). 
The survey area contains lithified Pleistocene dune limestone sporadically overlain by a poorly 
developed soil. Palaeozoic granite outcrops are located around the survey area (including the 
tourist destination of Remarkable Rocks), and while it does not outcrop in the survey area, it is 
expected to occur at relatively shallow depths. The terrain posed a bit of a challenge because it is 
quite vegetated and rocky. This area is swept by high winds which have resulted in exposed 
limestone bedrock with short, stunted vegetation. In many areas the bedrock is exposed and 
heavily eroded causing large, deep holes. 
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Figure 6. West Bay magnetometer results (I. Moffat 2006) 

Selection of survey area 

Cape du Couedic also posed more of a challenge due to a lack of definitive historical 
photographs of the shelter hut and the fact that historical records are somewhat conflicting. 
Trooper Thorpe�s letter indicates there was a shelter hut at Cape du Couedic, but there is also 
historical mention of the shelter hut being located at Remarkable Rocks (Loney, 1993:33). Early 
sailors recognized these rocks as a prominent feature on the landscape by which to navigate and 
this would have been a likely spot to place the hut. Remarkable Rocks are approximately 4 - 4.5 
km from the current lighthouse location and between the Cape and Rocks are two bays, neither 
of which have an accessible coastline. The section of coastline near Remarkable Rocks and Cape 
du Couedic is incredibly steep making it nearly impossible to climb the rocks if someone was 
shipwrecked, tired and injured. On Cape du Couedic proper, where the lighthouse is located, the 
slope to the water is less steep; however, it would still be a challenge to climb to safety. Of the 
coastline between the Cape and Remarkable Rocks, the area in front of the lighthouse provides 
the least challenging slope for a shipwrecked sailor. Additionally, this area provides a wider 
view of the surrounding waters including Lipson Reef and the Casuarinas Islands. Thus it was 
decided based on the physical characteristics of the shoreline, the viewshed and the probable 
history of placing structures nearby existing structures (i.e. lighthouse near hut location) that the 
survey for the shelter hut would involve the immediate area surrounding the lighthouse.  

The lighthouse complex involves a series of support structures which were built when the 
lighthouse was constructed. These include three keepers� cottages, a fuel shed, a stable and work 
shed, a well, a flagpole and weather station. These structures were identified and photographed, 
and a general pedestrian survey was conducted to asses the natural and cultural features of the 
area. A large borrow pit was discovered just southeast of the lighthouse complex where rock and 
sand was excavated for the construction of the lighthouse (this pit is so large it can be seen on 
aerial photographs). The borrow pit was subsequently used as a refuse pit by the lighthouse 
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occupants as evidenced by the exceptionally large sheet midden of glass, ceramic, bone, and 
metal.  

After inspecting the area two systematic pedestrian surveys were conducted in the areas 
identified as having high probability. These high probability areas were based on possible view 
sheds of shipwrecked sailors, elevation, shoreline characteristics, and historic photographs. 
These surveys were conducted south and west of the lighthouse and keepers cottages and south 
and east of the lighthouse. Using the road and cliff edges as survey boundaries, 10 m line spacing 
pedestrian surveys were conducted using a compass and GPS to track the lines.  

Two promising areas were identified during the north-western survey, the first being a well 
associated with the construction of the lighthouse in 1899. The well has been excavated and the 
top edges are reinforced with concrete. Adjacent to the well on either side are two rows of 
stacked limestone rock radiating out for approximately 5 m. Otherwise the surface area adjacent 
to the well is cleared of all brush and rock. It is not known whether this was a naturally occurring 
well that existed prior to the lighthouse construction or if it was purposely dug by the builders. If 
it was natural, it is likely that a shipwreck shelter would have been constructed nearby in order to 
provide survivors with fresh water. Nevertheless, there are signs that it was modified and used 
for a period of time, but there are no visible signs of a nearby shelter hut location.  

The second area of probability included a square pit cut into the limestone bedrock (Figure 7). 
This feature was of interest due to the regularity of the square shape and the cut walls, and was 
unlike any other natural feature in the bedrock. Additionally, the approximate size of 2 m by 2 m 
by 35 cm deep is similar to the estimated size of the shelter huts in historic photographs. A small 
cleared path leads from a maintained park trail up to the square pit and the area at the path/pit 
interface appears as if it might have been maintained in the past as a doorstep or entrance area to 
a structure. If the location of the square pit is aligned with the historic photograph of the possible 
Cape shelter hut, the lighthouse, environment and path or doorway fall in line with the 
photograph (refer to Figure 4). Additionally, if the photograph is of the Cape shelter hut, the 
construction techniques also correspond. As mentioned previously, this area is swept by strong 
winds and any structure built would need to have a substantial foundation and support. The 
structure could have been set in the ground and rocks stacked around the exterior for further 
support as shown in the photograph. As the expedition was intended as a reconnaissance only, 
this project did not include permits to disturb or remove the vegetation within and around the pit 
to locate postholes or construction techniques. Further investigations could reveal possible 
construction techniques.  

It is entirely possible that this limestone pit could have been a stone borrow pit for the 
construction of the lighthouse; however, it is considerably smaller than the borrow pits to the 
southeast and no other borrow pits are located nearby. Another question remains as to how the 
structure would have remained dry if set into the limestone. Suggestions for it having a raised 
floor to collect rainwater beneath for drinking may solve this problem. Nevertheless, much 
remains to be answered as to how these structures were constructed. 

The second pedestrian survey was conducted south and east of the lighthouse. Several cultural 
features associated with the lighthouse were located, including a number of limestone and sand 
borrow pits and sheet middens. One possible shipwreck shelter location included a deposit of 
degraded corrugated sheet metal scattered across an area of approximately 6.5 m by 6.5 m. 
According to historic photographs, corrugated metal sheeting was used in the construction of 
these shipwreck shelter huts. Although, given this area�s proximity to the sheet middens nearby, 
it is likely that this was the location of another dump site as other bits of metal were located 
including links of chain and nails. 
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Figure 7.  Square pit cut into limestone bedrock, white lines added for emphasis. 
Photograph taken facing west. (J. McKinnon 2006) 

Based on the results of the pedestrian surveys a magnetometer survey was conducted adjacent to 
the square cut limestone feature. Both the well site and the sheet metal scatter area were 
excluded from magnetometer surveys due to the obvious presence of cultural material and 
disturbance. 

Geophysical survey 

The same magnetometer settings and survey methods were used for the Cape du Couedic area 
(Figure 8). The survey area was approximately 60 m x 45 m in size and 952 data points were 
collected. The results of this magnetometer survey identified three significant anomalies at 
locations near the pit. These anomalies should be tested and further mapping should be 
conducted at this site to investigate the possibility that this is a location of one of Kangaroo 
Island�s early shipwreck shelter huts. 

Conclusion 
In conclusion, the project was successful in assessing the potential for locating shipwreck shelter 
huts. Unfortunately, the potential for locating these early shelter huts is quite low unless 
historical records, maps or photographs indicate their exact locations. Even then, actual sites are 
difficult to identify because they were lightly constructed, were not involved in any known 
shipwrecking events, and were dismantled and removed after a short period of time.   

One of the goals of this project was to conduct a pre-disturbance survey of these turn-of-century 
shipwreck shelter huts in order to establish these sites as viable maritime archaeological sites, 
and begin to place these sites within a broader context to answer a set of research questions 
which remain to be answered. This research seeks to provide a better understanding of the 
severities of life and shipping along the isolated, rocky coastline of Kangaroo Island, particularly 
the local need for shipwreck shelter huts and lifesaving stations and the political and economic 
drive behind placing these shelters in these locations. In time and with further research, questions 
may be answered such as: How were these huts constructed? Who maintained them? Why this 
particular location(s) for a hut? Why was no one stationed at them? What affected the decisions 
to place a hut rather than a life station or lighthouse? What was the local involvement with these 
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huts? Were they ever used or successful? Did it matter if they were used or successful? Were 
these placed to satisfy a local need or to demonstrate a political effort or presence? When and 
why were the huts removed? Answers to these questions will begin to add to our broader 
understanding of early shipping and ship losses in this area of South Australia and Kangaroo 
Island and how the local community and government were involved in this effort. 

 

Figure 8. Cape du Couedic magnetometer results (I. Moffat 2006) 
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A Low Impact Survey of Shore-Based 
Whaling Sites at Shackleford Banks, 
North Carolina: Diamond City 

Emily Jateff 

In April and October of 2006, reconnaissance fieldwork was carried out at Cape Lookout 
National Seashore (CALO) on Shackleford Banks, North Carolina, as a preliminary attempt to 
locate shore-based whaling sites associated with the late 19th century settlement of Diamond City 
(Figure 9). Originally named Lookout Woods or simply �eastern end,� Diamond City was once 
the largest community on the now uninhabited Shackleford Banks. Destroyed in the San Ciriaco 
Storm of 17 August 1899, Diamond City remains one of the most often recognized and cited 
names in North Carolina whaling history and lore.  

 

Figure 9. Lighter carrying whale bones prepares to depart banks (Courtesy North Carolina 
Maritime Museum) 

The primary purpose of this reconnaissance survey project was to identify natural or cultural 
artefacts linked to past shore whaling activities on the eastern end of Shackleford Banks. 
Because CALO falls within the jurisdiction of the National Park Service (NPS), Diamond City is 
automatically protected by federal legislation. Although the Archaeological Resources Protection 
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Act (ARPA) permit granted for this research project did allow excavation for testing purposes, it 
was decided that the survey methodology should employ only non-destructive techniques. 
Efforts were made to conduct a surface search, perform remote sensing exercises, and use 
archival documents to narrow the search area as much as possible prior to fieldwork activities. In 
addition, Shackleford Banks is home to a large herd of wild �Banker ponies� and is being 
considered as a National Wildlife Refuge. Transects of backfilled shovel tests (or similar) could 
create a dangerous situation for free-roaming animals. Unless absolutely necessary, 
archaeological research proposals were designed to avoid negatively impacting the current 
inhabitants and their environment.   

As it is always a good idea to have an additional research goal or �rainy day plan�, project aims 
also included the identification of domestic or other surface features associated with past 
occupations at Diamond City. It was hoped that in the event that fieldwork was unable to 
pinpoint evidence of whaling camps, it might at least be possible to identify how and where these 
whalers once lived, leading to a greater understanding of the physical community structure of 
Diamond City. 

In truth, discussions with both professional archaeologists and CALO employees implied a low 
expectation of material finds associated with whaling camps at Shackleford Banks due to 
hurricane impact and coastal erosion. From Hurricane Isabel in 2003 to Tropical Storm Ernesto 
in 2006, major storm events make landfall near CALO almost annually. The barrier island of 
Shackleford Banks is an ocean beach habitat characterized by strong wave action, tidal changes 
and sand scouring. Beach erosion and accretion, as a result of tidal action, have created a 
dynamic coastline. The beach erosion factor can reach up to nearly 1 m per year and remote 
sensing data collected in 2004 indicated that the eastern half of Shackleford Banks is �reworked 
and sediment-starved� (Camann and Wells 2004:ii) . These environmental factors led to an 
assumption that any remaining archaeological evidence of shore-based whaling camps on the 
eastern ocean side of Shackleford Banks may now be dispersed. In 1938, Barden Inlet was 
permanently extended to separate Shackleford Banks from Cape Lookout and Core Banks. The 
production of this dredged waterway likely dispersed any archaeological materials within this 
area.  

Historical Background 
Archival research also influenced the supposition that little remains of past shore-based whaling 
activities on Shackleford Banks. Shore-based whaling was just one of various seasonal fisheries 
practiced by the men of Diamond City (Brimley 1894; Stick 1958; Simpson and Simpson 1990; 
Reeves and Mitchell 1988). The men who fished for mullet in September and October were the 
same men who set out looking for whales in early spring. These individuals would construct the 
same sort of shelters at their seasonal camps on the beach no matter what the season. For 
example, the differences between a mullet fishing camp where:  �the men lived in cone-shaped 
huts, quickly built of saplings and thatched with reeds�[with] a lookout posted atop a nearby 
sand dune� and a whaling camp, where they would: �unite to form a camp, and proceed to build 
a house out of rushes�near the shore�and a lookout  selected�to give the signal if the whales 
come in sight� were not pronounced (Taylor 1992:19; Earll 1884:490). There does seem to be a 
preference for quick and easy lodging and a low factor for structural permanence, both for 
reasons of transient behaviours (seasonal fishery), location (beach) and construction methods 
(reed huts).   

In addition, many of the tools employed for whaling were also useful in other fisheries. Try pots 
were often just kettles adapted for another use and flensing knives could be as simple as large 
kitchen knives (Davis 1999:17). Whaling craft were 6-8 m lapstrake pilot boats also utilized for 
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harbour pilot duties, mullet and shad fisheries, and cross-sound transport (Taylor 1992). It is also 
likely that many of the tools and watercraft associated with whaling practices were never part of 
the archaeological record. Iron tools and pots were multiuse items and very hard to come by. 
Many of these objects were passed down and remain with the descendants of Shackleford 
whalers (Ira Lewis 2006, pers. comm.). Until the late 20th century, the Alfonso Whaling Museum 
in Beaufort, North Carolina displayed artefacts from the age of whaling along the North Carolina 
coast. This museum was housed inside an old sailing craft that was finally declared derelict and 
the collections (including two try posts, various harpoons and flensing irons) transferred to the 
North Carolina Maritime Museum (Paul Fontenoy 2006, pers. comm.).  

So while it seemed fairly unlikely that much would remain of the actual shelters, tools or craft 
that could be identified on-surface, what about the flensing stations? It seemed possible that there 
would be some evidence that up to 50-ton North Atlantic right whales were beached and skinned 
at this location. Such evidence might include whalebone, brickworks for the try pot fires, and 
barrels. This turned out to not necessarily be true, as records indicate that flensing took place 
wherever the whale was beached (Stick 1958:188). If the hunt was a success, the whalers would 
throw up their oars and give three cheers, signalling the women and children ashore that it was 
time to prepare for their return (Davis 1999). The women and children would then collect wood 
to build fires on the beach, sink try pots in temporary brickworks and otherwise set up stations 
for flensing the captured whale (Stick 1958:190; Pitts 1984:418). Nothing was wasted; 
Shackleford whalers even transported the whale carcass to the mainland and sold it for fertilizer. 
(Davis 1999:18) 

Historical records indicate that the far eastern end of Shackleford Banks - facing Core Banks and 
Lookout Bight - was the most likely place to find evidence of shore whaling huts, discarded 
whalebone, flensing or boat tools, or brickwork (Fries et al. 1922:258; Kell 1975:21). Oral 
histories gathered from local descendants of the Shackleford whalers suggested that a preference 
for this location continued well into the 19th century (Stick 1958). Therefore, fieldwork plans 
included both terrestrial and underwater surface surveys of this segment of the Banks. 

So what of Diamond City? Although populated by European transplants from at least the late 
17th century, the community of Lookout Woods did not really expand until the mid- to late-19th 
century. By 1853, the U.S. Coast survey noted buildings and a �sizable community� at the 
eastern end of Shackleford Banks (Stick 1958:186). By 1880, this number had grown to 500 
inhabitants (Gillikin 1999:65). Formally christened �Diamond City� in 1885, this settlement 
contained stores, schoolhouses, houses, and three on-island processing plants (Stick 1958:187-
188, 190; Davis 1999:16) (Figure 10).  

The San Ciriaco or �Great� Storm of 1899 thoroughly destroyed the community of Diamond 
City (Barnes 1999:77). Faced with the obliteration of living spaces, crops, and livestock, the 
Diamond City settlers chose to relocate to Harkers Island, Bogue Banks, or the mainland. By 
1902, no permanent residents remained on the island although local inhabitants of Carteret 
County continued to use seasonal vacation/fishing camps on Shackleford Banks well into the 
20th century. In 1987, Shackleford Banks was acquired by the federal government and 
incorporated into Cape Lookout National Seashore. At this date, all remaining fishing shacks 
were burned (Connie Mason 2006, pers. comm.).  

In 1952, W. Engels remarked that �nothing remains now but an occasional loose pile of bricks or 
stone, marking the foundations of a former dwelling place and several large mounds of oyster 
shells, now covered by sand� (Engels 1952:721) . The structures at Diamond City were 
ramshackle �story-and-a-jump� houses pieced together from shell, brick, shipwreck materials 
and island timber, or �hodges� - small dwelli ngs carved out of dunes and hills (Willis 1999:91; 
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Gillikan 1999:68). They were not built for structural permanence. After the Great Storm of 1899, 
many of these houses were removed from their foundations and floated to the �Promised Land� 
in Morehead City or to Harkers Island (Stick 1958:193). In addition, no historic plats or Mills 
Atlas� maps exist to provide a projected layout of Diamond City. 

 

Figure 10.  Communities on Shackleford Banks 1850-1890 (Courtesy of Connie Mason, 
National Park Service) 

Previous Investigations 
Cultural resource surveys of Cape Lookout National Seashore were previously submitted to the 
National Park Service by F. Ross Holland (1968) and John Ehrenhard (1976) as a precursor to 
the purchase of Cape Lookout National Seashore by the National Park Service in 1976 and the 
subsequent acquisition of Shackleford Banks in 1986. Holland (1968) did not survey for 
subsurface archaeological sites. Thirty-six sites were recorded within CALO, nine of these on 
Shackleford Banks, although none were deemed eligible for the National Register.   

Of the nine sites identified by John Ehrenhard on the eastern end of Shackleford Banks, only 
NPS 14 (Diamond City) is identified as an historic site; all other sites are listed as prehistoric 
(Ehrenhard 1976). Previously identified sites also include 31CR193 (Diamond City), the site 
number on-file with the North Carolina Office of Archaeology. However, 31CR193 does not 
have the same GPS coordinates as NPS 14. As far as could be determined, the location for NPS 
14 was determined by surface artefact scatter and boundaries for NPS 14 or 31CR193 had not 
been defined through subsurface testing or other means. Per the results of previous 
archaeological investigations, all shell mounds present on Shackleford Banks were believed to be 
Native American (Ehrenhard 1976; Michael Rikard 2006, pers. comm.).   
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Site Surveys 
The first phase of this project - performed 24 April 2006 - a visual assessment of the beach and 
sound sides on the eastern end of Shackleford Banks. Previously identified locations for 
Diamond City (NPS 14 and 31CR193) were relocated and visually surveyed for surface cultural 
materials. Surface scatter was not identified at either location. Walkover survey inspection began 
at the Horse Corral and proceeded east along the sound shoreline to the start of the tidal marsh 
(approximately 3 km in length). Five visual transects were then conducted north/south along the 
eastern end of the island at approximately 500 m intervals and then west along the ocean side to 
a point due south of the horse corral (again, approximately 3 km in length). Ten close interval 
transects (10 m intervals, paced off) were employed at the northern ends of north/south transects 
2 and 3 to further delineate surface features present within this area. Survey transects progressed 
east/west between these points to the shore.  

No cultural features were noted on the ocean side of the island within this survey area. Cultural 
features identified on the sound side of the island included three shell mounds with small scatters 
of brick, glass and ceramic, and what may once have been a pathway or road oriented east to 
west (see Figure 11). Personal communications with Connie Mason indicated �nothing is left� of 
the old roads that connected Diamond City to the other settlements on Shackleford Banks 
(Connie Mason 2006, pers. comm.). However, it was thought likely that this feature was 
associated with the Lookout Woods/Diamond City settlement, not only because of shape, size 
and placement, but also due to the proximity to identified shell mounds. 

 

Figure 11. Pathway/Road, facing Mound 1, to the northwest (Jateff 2006) 

Based on the information collected from archival, oral, and field data collected in April 2006, 
this low impact field project was designed to include terrestrial and underwater visual survey 
inspections of the ocean side on the far eastern end of Shackleford Banks. It was determined that 
this area held the highest potential for identification of cultural and natural artefacts associated 
with past whaling camp occupation and activity areas. However fieldwork does not always turn 
out as planned.  

The original research design was to include a terrestrial and underwater survey of the eastern end 
of Shackleford Banks (Figure 12). Emphasis for the terrestrial portion of this project was to 
concentrate on identification of structures or objects associated with fishing or whaling practices 
in this area. Due to the submerged nature of the area (tidal flat/salt marsh), it was expected that 
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some areas would not be accessible. Terrestrial fieldwork was to include a two-person team 
conducting visual transects. It was expected that visual survey, delineation, measurements and 
documentation would take three days to complete. The survey area started at the presumed 
location of Diamond City (31CR193) and terminated at Barden Inlet (total length: approximately 
2 km). Width of the survey area varied from 290-780 m.  This area was divided into 78 transects 
at a compass heading of 120 degrees to be visually inspected in 10 m intervals by two 
individuals. The survey area terrain included beach, sand dune, maritime forest, and tidal marsh. 
Terrestrial inspection transects were to terminate at the tidal marsh.  

 

Figure 12. Original survey parameters (Jateff 2006) 

The underwater survey was designed to attempt identification of whaling camps once located on 
land. Consequently, the southern extension of the survey area was determined by the nearly 1 m 
per year shoreline erosion factor calculated by Eleanor Camann (Camann and Wells 2004). From 
this estimate, an approximate total shoreline erosion of 65 m is postulated to have occurred since 
the San Ciriaco hurricane of 1899. Western extension of the survey area started 290 m southwest 
of the presumed location for Diamond City (31CR193) and the eastern extension was a point due 
east of the tip of Lookout Bight (1200 m). Time constraints on fieldwork precluded the extension 
of underwater survey within Cape Lookout Bight.  

Time allotted for the underwater component was three days. Fieldwork was to include a snorkel 
and SCUBA swim line search for surface artefacts within a 1200 m E/W by 65 m N/S survey 
area adjacent to the terrestrial survey area. Maximum depth in this area is 6 m with an average of 
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1.5 m. As this was a large survey area to cover in three days of fieldwork, it was divided into 
three 400 m E/W by 65 m N/S areas. Area 1 (due east of 31CR193) was considered the area with 
the highest potential for material culture associated with both shore whaling practices and the 
settlement at Diamond City. Area 2 was the middle survey block and Area 3 the most easterly 
survey block. Transects were to run N/S from shore at 220 degrees. Each area was to be 
inspected at 2-5 m intervals, depending on water visibility. Transect totals were 80 transects per 
block at 5 m intervals or 200 transects per block at 2 m intervals. 

The above planned fieldwork was scheduled for 6-8 October 2006 and to be conducted with the 
assistance of students and faculty from the Maritime Studies Program at East Carolina University 
(ECU). However, due to fluctuations in weather reports, and unforeseen complications with 
time constraints, it was impossible to complete fieldwork as originally planned. It was 
determined that there would not be enough time to complete terrestrial and underwater survey 
area searches. Therefore previously identified features on the sound side (Area 1) were surveyed 
in greater detail. In a final attempt to salvage the search for shore-based whaling camps, a visual 
inspection survey of the far southeastern end of Shackleford Banks (Area 2) was performed on 6 
October 2006. The purpose of this survey was to examine the terrain for cultural or natural 
artefacts located on the surface.  

The environment of the north eastern section of Area 2 was tidal marsh/salt flat (located within 
Barden Inlet); around the bend, the topography changed to steep sand dunes banking a wide 
beach, and the south-western edge of Area 2 was rolling sand dunes tapering to a flat beach. 
Dune banks average 1-5 m in height with the greatest height along the southeastern tip of the 
island.  Investigations recorded a 20 cm layer of crushed oyster shell included within the dune 
bank, approximately 80 cm from the top of the bank (Figure 13). Artefacts identified in Area 2 
included one block of granite and three drift pins. It was not possible to conclusively state that 
these artefacts were associated with historic occupations at Diamond City as they could be 
associated with modern activities. There was little evidence that future fieldwork will be able to 
locate archaeological evidence of shore whaling within Area 2. Severe coastline erosion may 
prevent the identification of in situ cultural material that could be linked to past shore-based 
whaling activities. 

 

Figure 13. Sand dune with shell lens and cultural material, facing north (Jateff 2006) 
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To get the most from the survey and learn as much as possible about past occupants of Shackle 
ford Banks, the �rainy day plan� was enacted. It  was decided that the weekend of fieldwork 
should concentrate on determining information about the location and boundaries of Diamond 
City. The purpose of this revised fieldwork was to record all identifiable shell mounds, 
structures, and the pathway/road located within the survey area on the eastern sound side of 
Shackleford Banks (Area 1). Primary goals included survey and assessment of the previously 
identified mounds and pathway/road to ascertain if they could be associated with past historic 
occupation of Diamond City. 

Area 1 encompassed two mounds identified during April 2006 fieldwork, five newly located 
mounds, two structures, and the pathway/road. Five of these mounds were mapped with a 
TopCon GTS 229 Total Station; and all mounds were recorded with a Global Positioning System 
set to North American Datum (NAD) 83. Points were taken on and near Mounds 1-5 to 
determine mound dimensions and distribution of brick and other cultural artefacts. To determine 
the possible locations of buried cultural materials, a Garrett Infinitum Pulse Induction metal 
detector was employed in an approximate 100 m swath around Mounds 1 and 2. However, there 
was insufficient time available to metal detect the areas around Mound 3-7.  

Further investigation of the pathway/road found this feature to continue much farther than 
previously believed. This feature is also believed to include offshoots - that led directly to 
identified shell mounds. An approximate total length and width of the main road were collected 
using a combination of GPS and tape measurements.   

A total of 71 artefacts and 65 brick fragments were identified at Mounds 1, 3, 4 and 5 and a 
maximum date range for these artefacts was 1815 to 1925. Mean Ceramic Date (MCD) 
calculations reported a mean of 1863 (Mound 1) and 1861 (Mounds 3 through 5), although 
temporal distribution of ceramics indicated a later - rather than an earlier - occupation. The 
cultural assemblage combined with the spatial distribution implied a connection with Diamond 
City. Mounds were spaced at intervals located close to the sound shoreline and contained shell, 
historic ceramics, brick, and roofing nails (Figure 14).   

In addition, Diamond City descendants Ellis Yeomans and Dennis Chadwick reported that the 
twentieth century fishing shacks on Shackleford Banks were set up on top of the old shell 
mounds. In some cases, existing shell mounds were scraped up and combined to create higher 
mounds (Yeomans and Chadwick 2006, pers. comm.). If the fishing shacks on Shackleford 
Banks were burned in 1987, it is interesting that all copper, stone, and iron artefacts noted at 
Mounds 3, 4 and 5 presented evidence of fire scorching.  

It is believed that artefact data support the theory that the mounds in Area 1 were associated with 
historic occupations on Shackleford Banks. In addition, on-island location suggested that Area 1 
mounds were associated specifically with occupations of Diamond City. However, these mounds 
could not be pinpointed to one temporal period. There is both historical and archaeological 
evidence of mound utilization from the mid-19th century through the late 20th century. Further 
surface survey will most likely not be able to tighten these temporal ranges, although if deemed 
necessary, it may be possible through subsurface testing.  

If the Area 1 mound concentration represented a section of Diamond City, then it is possible to 
presume that similar mounds may also be associated with Diamond City and therefore future 
research may be able to locate and define boundaries for the entire community (see Area 1 
extension in Figure 15). The far northeastern tip of Shackleford Banks is the location of the 
�largest mound on the island� (Michael Rikard 2006, pers. comm.). Future research at CALO 
includes plans for visual inspection of similar mound features. 
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Figure 14. Total Station data for Area 1 mound concentration (Jateff 2006)  
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Figure 15. A portion of a 2006 aerial photograph showing Area 1 and projected Area 1 
extension (Adapted from Europa Technologies, DigitalGlobe) 

Conclusion 
The question may be asked whether or not this fieldwork project could be deemed a success. 
Expectations for archaeological evidence of shore-based whaling sites were not optimistic. 
Therefore, the fact that reconnaissance surveys of the southeastern end of Shackleford Banks 
proved difficult to identify cultural or natural remains of shore-based whaling activities was not a 
great surprise. There is the chance that the original fieldwork plan would have proved more 
successful; however, time constraints necessitated changes to the fieldwork plan. The �rainy day 
plan� allowed for a change of focus that still gathered valuable information about historic 
occupations on the eastern end of Shackleford Banks.  
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Search for the Independence 
Construction Site, American River, 
Kangaroo Island 

Claire Dappert and Ian Moffat 

 

During July 2006, students and staff of the Program in Maritime Archaeology at Flinders 
University conducted an archaeological survey near American River, Kangaroo Island, South 
Australia, to attempt to locate the US schooner Independence construction site. The purpose of 
this report is to summarize the methodology and findings of these investigations. Based on 
historical documentation, the construction site was suspected to be located along the present day 
shore line near American River (Figure 16).   

 

Figure 16.  Map of Survey Area (TerraMetrics 2007) 
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Although the survey did not find the exact location for the Independence construction site, it did 
establish three target areas (Figure 17) that would have been most ideal for this activity in the 
survey area: the Independence Point Site (Site A), the American River Township Site (Site B) 
and the Fish Cannery Track Site (Site C). These locations were based on several assumptions 
about characteristics of shipbuilding sites: closeness to channel, relationship to flat or gently 
sloping land for ease of launching, closeness to fresh water, protection from the elements, and 
presence of early 19th century cultural material. In addition to attempting to locate the site of 
construction, this research sought to address two central questions: what factors, such as 
environmental resources, influenced Captain Pendleton to choose American River as a location 
to construct Independence, and what were the different types of timbers available to the 
shipbuilders of Independence? As part of answering these questions, the field crew initiated a 
vegetation survey to sample prominent timber specimens. 

This archaeological survey provided a valuable source of information on several levels. The 
survey represented the first archaeological survey conducted in the American River area, and this 
cultural assessment provides a baseline for future studies and management. This study was also 
one of the first studies to attempt to locate such an ephemeral shipbuilding site. The knowledge 
gained from the investigation could provide a foundation for similar studies that target short 
occupation ship construction sites.   

 

Figure 17. Survey area showing Site A, Site B and Site C (TerraMetrics 2007) 

History of US Schooner Independence 
Independence, which was the first non-indigenous vessel constructed in South Australia, was 
built in 1803 by the crew of US brig Union. Union was outfitted by Fanning & Co. of New York 
in 1802 for a sealing expedition to the southeast coast of New Holland (Fanning 1989:230). 
Edmund Fanning, who owned a part share in the vessel, stated,  

Never, perhaps, was a voyage entered upon with brighter, and never did a vessel sail 
with more encouraging prospects than this brig. Her commander (Captain Isaac 
Pendleton) was �left unrestricted, and at perfect liberty to act on all occasions as his 
judgment should direct, to make the most profitable voyage he could of it for his 
owners. (Fanning 1989:230-231) 
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On February 18, 1803, the vessel arrived at Seal Island in King George III Sound. The crew then 
went ashore to procure seal skins, but because the chief part of the sealing season had already 
passed, they only obtained a small amount (Fanning 1989:231-232). Two days later, Pendleton 
happened upon the French explorer Nicolas Baudin of Le GØographe who was surveying the 
coast of New Holland. Baudin recorded the details of their rendezvous: 

And before seating ourselves he begged me to give him, if possible, a chart of the 
coast of New Holland, not possessing any information to guide him in the course he 
desired to take in the search for the places frequented by seals, nor for the direction of 
the coast nor of the dangers to be met with there.  I gave him two charts�as well as 
the position of King Island. (Cumpston 1970:26) 

Baudin and his officers reassured Pendleton that he would find enough seals to complete his 
cargo at Kangaroo Island, and he proceeded to tell him the best place for anchorage and to 
procure sealskins. Previous to this encounter, Baudin and his corvette Le GØographe had sailed 
around Kangaroo Island. Baudin had lost a longboat, and his carpenters had combed the island 
for suitable timber. It was only when they reached the area near what is now called American 
River that the carpenters were able to procure suitable timber, and then construct a longboat 
aboard Baudin�s vessel. Although not historically documented, it is possible that Baudin shared 
this information with Pendleton.   

Pendleton set sail for Kangaroo Island, and decided to winter at American River, where they 
constructed the 30-ton schooner Independence (Sydney Gazette 8 January 1804). Here the crew 
�found both the hair and fur seals, extensive fo rests, good water, and much game; fowls and 
birds of various kinds in abundance; and also excellent fish and oysters in great plenty� (Fanning 
1989:231-232). They stayed for almost four months, during which time they �set about and built 
a small vessel, 30 tons burthen, named the Independence� (Fanning 1989:232; Sydney Gazette 8 
January 1804).   

The timbers utilized to construct Independence have been debated. Edmund Fanning�s (1989) 
historical narrative and The Sydney Gazette reported that the scantlings used to construct 
Independence were hewn and sawn from the local pine tree, which resembled Swedish timber 
and contains turpentine (Fanning 1989:232; Sydney Gazette 1 July1826). Another source states, 

The first officer, D. Wright, a man of mechanical ingenuity, the carpenter and 
armourer directed preparation of the native pine, eucalypt and casuarina timber. With 
this and spare sails, rigging and other materials from the Union they were able to 
launch the Independence early in 1804. (Nunn 1989:20) 

Upon completing the vessel, Pendleton and the crew of Union parted company with the newly 
appointed crew of Independence, while Union got underway to Port Jackson. Isaiah Townsend, 
who was a seaman aboard Union wrote to his brother Samuel in New York: 

We have been cruising on the Southwest Coast of New Holland but to little 
advantage. We have built a fine schooner of about 30 tons. We call her the 
Independence which�our crew is now cruising in  Bass�s Straits... Captain Pendleton 
myself and the remainder of the crew is in here with the ship for supplies. (Townsend 
1804)   

Union left Sydney during April 1804, to rendezvous with Independence at Kangaroo Island 
(HRA 1804:5.122). They both arrived back in Sydney during June 1804 (HRA 1804:5.120). At 
this time Captain Pendleton sold a part share of Independence to the prominent Sydney trader 
Simeon Lord. The Articles of Agreement listed Isaiah Townsend as master of the vessel (Fowler 
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1980:72). Pendleton also sold his cargo of seal skins to Simeon Lord for which he was to procure 
payment from the sale of the sandalwood in China. He was to obtain the sandalwood at a secret 
location in Fiji. 

The presence of American vessels in Port Jackson had the Governor of the Colony, Phillip King, 
worried. He wrote to the Secretary of the State for the Colonies, asking him how far he would be 
�justified in preventing the American intrusion a nd the resultant intercourse with them.� (HRA I 
1804:5.92-93). King issued a General Order on August 11, 1804 stating: 

� no vessel under foreign colours, or belongi ng to any foreigner, be cleared from 
this port for any sealing voyage within the limits of this Territory or its dependencies, 
and for the purpose of returning hither, but that all such vessels after their necessities 
are relieved, be cleared out from this Port to any other Port of Discharge. (HRA I 
1804:5.92-93) 

Pendleton, rather than reveal his true destination, cleared Port Jackson for China. John Boston, 
sailing as supercargo, was to take Union to Fiji to procure sandalwood for the China markets, 
which was to be the first attempt at trading sandalwood with China. While stopping at Tonga for 
supplies, Pendleton and six other crewmen were murdered by the local Indigenous population. 
Daniel Wright, who became acting captain, returned to Sydney to report the news and to procure 
provisions. Then, he continued the expedition to Fiji. Union struck a reef along the coast of Fiji 
near Sandalwood Bay, and those that were not drowned were massacred by the local Indigenous 
population. 

Independence, on the other hand, did not have to clear Port Jackson for a foreign port because 
Simeon Lord owned a part share of the vessel. Townsend sailed the vessel to Antipodes Island, 
which was south of New Zealand and where they procured 59,000 skins. Captain Townsend 
wrote to his brother in New York: 

I take this opportunity to inform you�that I ha ve been very successful since I left the 
Union. On a sealing expedition I have at present several vessels and a large number 
of men under my direction in this business. Besides my little schooner the 
Independence which I command and have now mated with Captain Jonathan Paddock 
in the ship Favorite of Nantucket. (Townsend 1805) 

Independence and Favorite set sail on another sealing expedition on the 15 June 1805. The two 
vessels parted company at New Zealand planning to rendezvous again at the Antipodes Islands. 
The crew of Favorite arrived, procured skins, and sailed back to Port Jackson. Independence was 
never heard of again. Captain Paddock stated: 

We are sorry to report the probable loss of the American schooner Independence, 
which�was for some time conjectured to be  traveling on discovery of advantageous 
situations for procuring seal; but has unfortunately never since been seen or heard of. 
(Sydney Gazette 15 May 1806) 

�He had not more than six or seven weeks pr ovisions on board of the schooner...I think from 
every circumstance we have reason but to think he was lost.� (Paddock 1807). Simeon Lord had 
in his hands everything that Townsend had obtained during his sealing expeditions, which 
amounted to about 18,000 skins. Paddock did not know what share was Townsend�s or Lord�s 
(Paddock 1807).  
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Previous Investigations 
No previous archaeological investigations have been conducted near American River. Historical 
evidence indicates the vessel was constructed in this area. A chart composed by Captain George 
Sutherland in 1819 depicts a general location for construction; however, the inscription, �Where 
a schooner was built by shipwrecked Americans,� was incorrect in that the Americans were not 
shipwrecked. Thus, its validity is rather dubious (Sutherland 1831). 

A local historian, J. S. Cumpston, visited the American River region in the 1960s (Figure 17 and 
Figure 18). He claimed to have identified the Independence construction site near a small point 
along the western shore of American River (Figures 18 and 19). 

Some pieces of coal picked up on the point were found to be dissimilar from that 
mined in Australia. That suggests that a shipwright�s forge was in use there. While 
the vessel was under construction the Union was almost certainly anchored in Eastern 
Cove, off American Beach, where water is available. (Cumpston 1970:28)  

Based on this cartographic and coal evidence, the present day Independence Point was chosen as 
a primary target area. 

 

Figure 18. Photo taken by J.S. Cumpston in 1960s showing Independence Point (Cumpston 
1970) 

Environment 
Kangaroo Island is the second largest island in Australia. It is located approximately 140 km 
southwest of Adelaide near the mouth of the Gulf St. Vincent. Separated from Cape Jervis on the 
mainland by a narrow waterway called Backstairs Passage and from the Yorke Peninsula by 
Investigator Strait, the island is 50 km wide and has a coastline of 496 km. Most of the island 
consists of plateau with steep cliffs to the north and low-lying limestone bedrock along the south 
coast. Much of the soil has gravely limestone inclusions overlaying limestone bedrock, and the 
predominant overgrowth consists mostly of dense mallee scrub. Rainfall averages 50-60 cm each 
year. Most streams and lagoons are saline during the spring and dry up during the summer 
months. Most settlement has centred near these waterways where the soil has more depth before 
hitting bedrock (Tyler et al. 1979:39). 
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Figure 19. Independence Point as it appears today (Karson Winslow 2006) 

Methodology 
Site investigations included a combination of pedestrian surveys, magnetometer surveys, and a 
vegetation survey.  

Pedestrian survey 

The pedestrian survey covered nearly 11 km along the foreshore and identified three target sites 
based on closeness to a deep water channel, relationship to flat or gently sloping land for ease of 
launching, closeness to fresh water, protection from the elements, presence of early 19th century 
cultural material, and availability of timber suitable for ship construction. Target areas were then 
further investigated by a series of systematic shovel tests (Figure 20). Shovel tests were laid out 
in a 5 m or 10 m grid, depending on testable terrain, and all soil constituents were recorded with 
a Munsell soil chart.  

 
Figure 20. Jennifer McKinnon (right) and Karson Winslow investigate a shovel test (Mark 

Staniforth 2006) 
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